2002

# Lori Haase v. Ashley Valley Medical Center and Columbia Ashley Valley Medical Center, and John Doe Defendants 1 Through 10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

UCA § 78-2a-3(2)(j) confers jurisdiction on this Court to decide this appeal.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

**1. Did the district court err in *apparently* finding that the jury intended to award Mrs. Haase only 30% of its \$820,000 damage award for the hospital's negligence?**

This is a question of fact to be reviewed under a "clearly erroneous" standard. Young v. Young, 979 P.2d 338, 342 (Utah 1999); Rule 52(a), URCP. Under this standard, the appellant must prove the district court's apparent finding is "against the clear weight of the evidence". State in Interest of JRT v. Timperly, 750 P.2d 1234, 1236 (Utah App., 1988).

**2. Did the district court fail to follow Utah law in refusing to effectuate the jury's true intent to award Mrs. Haase \$820,000 for the hospital's negligence?**

This is a question of law, reviewable for "correctness." This Court need give no deference to the district court's ruling. Bishop v. GenTec, 48 P.3d 281 (Utah 2002); Moulton v. Staats, 27 P.2d 455, 459 (Utah 1933).

## ISSUES SOUGHT TO BE PRESERVED

The hospital has filed a cross appeal seeking a new trial due to what it contends were errors in evidentiary rulings by the trial court. **Mrs. Haase opposes remand for retrial.** (See Arguments VI and VII, *infra* at pp. 31-35). However, in the event this Court is inclined to order a new trial, she wishes to preserve her right to appellate review of several evidentiary rulings which were unfavorable to her. Issues raised by those unfavorable rulings include these:

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to allow the jury to consider authenticated medical records of the surgeon's treatment in a Dayspring Drug Addiction Treatment Program when those records were offered to rebut the hospital's claim it did not know the surgeon had a substance abuse problem and neither requested nor required him to submit to substance abuse treatment?<sup>1</sup>
2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to permit the brief factual testimony of Dr. Raymond Middleton to be presented to the jury either via live telephonic examination or by the reading of his deposition transcript when, at the time of trial, Dr. Middleton was retired, living in St. George, and unable without hardship to appear personally at trial in Vernal?
3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to permit two Salt Lake physicians who had treated the surgeon for drug and/or

---

<sup>1</sup> At least 5 separate entries in this chart indicate the surgeon had been sent for treatment there by the hospital. The surgeon's treatment occurred just 6 months before he operated on Mrs. Haase. Witnesses who were not allowed to testify at trial (Drs. Collins and Burgoyne) would have testified the surgeon failed to submit to the recommended out-patient treatment following his discharge.

emotional problems prior to his surgery on Mrs. Haase (Drs. Collins and Burgoyne) to testify at trial via telephone?

4. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to permit the brief testimony of fact witness Bryan Gibby to be presented to the jury via live telephonic examination when, at the time of trial, Mr. Gibby (a physical therapist who had worked with the surgeon in Vernal) was living in Illinois and could not appear personally at trial in Vernal without great hardship on himself and his family?
5. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in precluding the introduction of evidence that the hospital was owned by Columbia/HCA and precluding any reference to the hospital at trial by its true name, Columbia/HCA Ashley Valley Medical Center?
6. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to allow the jury to consider any portion of the videotaped deposition testimony of Dr. Robert Dunn, an orthopedic surgery expert from New Jersey?
7. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to allow the jury to be informed that, at the hospital's request, the surgeon had submitted to several drug screen tests near the time of his surgery on Mrs. Haase and that the hospital was unable and/or unwilling to produce the results of those tests?
8. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in concluding that a statutory peer review privilege precluded Mrs. Haase's introduction of substantial evidence and testimony against the hospital, even though the individual who was the subject of the alleged peer review was, at the time of trial, deceased?
9. Did the trial court err in refusing to allow the jury to consider an assessment of punitive damages against the hospital when the hospital's own expert testified that permitting an uncredentialed surgeon to operate on patients would constitute reckless conduct?

Mrs. Haase defers her briefing of these issues to the submission she will file in response to the hospital's cross-appeal.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>2</sup>

This is an appeal from the trial court's refusal to enter judgment in the amount of \$820,000, as supported by the jury's post-verdict affidavits and in-court declarations.

Mrs. Haase sued the hospital for negligently credentialing and retaining a dangerously impaired orthopedic surgeon who caused her serious permanent injury by severing her patellar tendon during a questionable surgery to repair a minimally displaced tibial plateau fracture. ( R. 3-10). The surgical error and injury occurred six years before Mrs. Haase's case against the hospital came to trial. ( R. 3-10). Mrs. Haase's claim against the surgeon was settled three years earlier. ( R. 895-899). That settlement occurred some fifteen months after the surgeon had died. Terms of the settlement were confidential but included express provision that Mrs. Haase would be free to pursue her claim against the hospital. ( R. 895-899, 1170-1173).

Prior to trial, Mrs. Haase's counsel filed a formal motion in limine seeking clarification as to how the trial court intended to handle the matter of Mrs. Haase's prior settlement with the surgeon's estate. Counsel also included the matter in a

---

<sup>2</sup> All references to the district court record shall be cited as "R. \_\_\_\_\_" Plaintiff Lori Haase shall be referred to as "Mrs. Haase." Defendant Ashley Valley Medical Center shall be referred to as "the hospital."

proposed agendum of legal issues he hoped would be addressed before trial.<sup>3</sup> ( R. 934-940).

Despite counsel's effort, the issue was not resolved prior to trial. However, the court did instruct the jury that the surgeon's negligence "is not at issue in this trial. This trial is about what happened before the surgery." ( R. 982; R. 1358 at p.4). A few weeks before trial, the hospital decided not to contest the surgeon's negligence and asked the court to declare the surgeon's negligence to be an established fact. The court honored that request. ( R. 796-810; 1162).

After both sides had rested, the court reviewed proposed jury instructions with counsel in chambers. During this session, which was not "on the record," counsel debated one another's proposed jury instructions, with the court selecting those instructions it felt were appropriate. The form of the special verdict was also discussed. The special verdict form submitted on behalf of Mrs. Haase did not ask the jury to apportion fault between the hospital and the surgeon. ( R. 857-859; Exhibit 3, attached). Significantly, neither did the one submitted on

---

<sup>3</sup> That proposed agendum was delivered to the court and the hospital's counsel two days before trial. Of the 17 issues it asked to be considered, only one is entirely capitalized: The one dealing with whether the fault of the surgeon should be apportioned with that of the hospital. ( R. 936).



behalf of the hospital. (See Exhibit 2, attached)<sup>4</sup>. The parties' disagreement over the special verdict had nothing to do with apportionment of fault. Rather, it concerned the hospital's contention that in order to find for Mrs. Haase, the jury should have to find specifically that the surgeon was "physically impaired at the time he operated on Lori Haase". The court brought the debate to an end without indicating which of the parties' proposed special verdict forms it would employ. It dismissed counsel for a brief lunch break with the indication that the reading of jury instructions would occur immediately after the lunch break, followed by closing arguments.

Following the lunch break, the court read its jury instructions to the jury and for the first time revealed to counsel the special verdict form it intended to use, which it apparently had created on its own during the lunch break. That form contained a blank for the surgeon's percent of negligence. Counsel were neither asked nor permitted to comment on the court's special verdict form prior to its being presented to the jury. They had no opportunity even to see it until shortly before it was read to the jury.

---

<sup>4</sup> The Eighth District Court Clerk has no record of a special verdict form having been filed by the hospital. However, plaintiff's counsel received a proposed special verdict form from the hospital's counsel shortly before trial along with the hospital's proposed 27 jury instructions. It is appended hereto as Exhibit 2.

The jury received no instruction concerning comparative negligence or apportionment of fault. ( R. 1006-1053). The jury also received no instruction explaining the impact of apportionment of fault decisions on the actual amount of the damage award Mrs. Haase would receive. ( R. 1006-1053). Neither party had requested any such instructions prior to trial. Mrs. Haase had not requested any because she had consistently contended, for a variety of reasons, that the jury should not be asked to apportion fault between the surgeon and the hospital. ( R. 943-959). Again, neither counsel knew that the court had decided to ask the jury to apportion fault between the hospital and the surgeon until the court presented its own special verdict form to the jury shortly before closing arguments were delivered.

The 48 instructions given by the court contain no guidance or standards as to how the surgeon's negligence should be "deliberated". They do not even discuss or mention the surgeon's negligence. The only reference to physician negligence appears in Instruction No. 24 which merely states:

A physician's negligence does not raise a presumption that the hospital was negligent in granting the physician privileges.

( R. 1030). Again, the court instructed the jury at the beginning of the trial that the surgeon's negligence was not at issue. ( R. 982, 1358 at p. 4).

During its deliberations, the jury sent out a note to the court requesting clarification of its task in assessing damages. ( R. 1005). Although this was an occasion for the court to allow counsel to help dispel any misunderstanding the jury may have had due to an absence of apportionment instructions, the court did not contact counsel. Rather, it returned a terse note to the jury undertaking to answer its question. ( R. 1005; Exhibit 6, attached). It is apparent that the seven-word response did not satisfactorily clarify the matter for the jury. In the end, the jurors were left to their own assumptions based on what they understood. (R.1058-59 ; Exhibit 8, attached, at pp. 1-2).

The jury foreman signed the special verdict form. It contains an award of \$820,000 in damages<sup>5</sup>. It also lists fault at 30% for the hospital and 70% for the surgeon. ( R. 1054-1055).

The verdict was returned at approximately 11:00 p.m. The court invited the jurors to go home and suggested that if counsel wanted to ask them questions, they could do so the next day. ( R. 1357 at p. 8; Exhibit 6, attached). The next

---

<sup>5</sup> During the trial, four witnesses testified concerning Mrs. Haase's general damages: Mrs. Haase's mother and two daughters and Mrs. Haase herself. Two expert witnesses testified as to special damages: Rehabilitation Specialist/Life Care Planner Helen Woodard and Economist Patricia Pacey, Ph.D. Dr. Pacey testified that based on Ms. Woodard's finding and her own calculations, Mrs. Haase's special damages were at least \$1,241,900 (Trial Transcript Vol. IV, 618-652). The hospital offered no rebuttal evidence or witnesses on damages.

morning, Mrs. Haase's counsel discovered from his juror interviews that the special verdict form as interpreted by the court did not reflect the jury's true intent. Seven of the eight jurors indicated without equivocation that they intended to award Mrs. Haase the full \$820,000 for the hospital's negligence. ( R. 1058-1067 and 1108-1109; Exhibit 6, attached). The eighth juror indicated she had agreed during deliberations to go along with the others but she declined to sign an affidavit reflecting her intentions or understanding. Affidavits were prepared, signed and filed with the court. ( R. 1056 - 1081 and 1108 -1109; See Exhibit "6", attached).

After considering the affidavits, the trial court ordered that the jury be reconvened six weeks after the trial. ( R. 1138-1139). At that time, the jurors were asked to respond to questions. One of the questions put to the jurors was this:

***"Was it your intent to award Mrs. Haase the total sum of \$820,000 for injuries sustained by her as a result of the hospital's negligence"?***

( R. 1358 at p. 17; See Exhibit "5", attached at p. 17). **Six of the seven jurors**

**present** <sup>6</sup> **responded in the affirmative.** ( R. 1358 at pp. 17-19; See Exhibit "5", attached at pp. 17-19; See and hear also actual videotape of hearing for proof as to the number of affirmative responses, including Mr. Labrum's).

Another question posed to the jurors was:

***"Was it your intent to award Mrs. Haase only \$246,000 for the damages she sustained as a result of the hospital's negligence?"***

( R. 1358; Exhibit 5, attached, P.19, lines 1-18). The same six jurors again responded "no" (*Id.* at lines 22-25).

Finally, the six jurors who had responded with clarity to that question were posed this question:

Hearing what you have heard now from the Court about the \$246,00 judgment, ***did you inaccurately record on the special verdict form your actual intent?***

( R. 1358; Exhibit 5, attached at p. 24, lines 5-7) (Emphasis added). The record clearly reflects six individual affirmative responses to this question. ( R. 1358 at pp. 24-25; Exhibit 5, attached at pp. 24-25; Also, see and hear actual videotape of proceeding).

---

<sup>6</sup> One of the jurors (Becky Solomon) was absent when the jury was re-convened and the eighth juror was not asked the question, having declined earlier to sign an affidavit but having indicated her agreement to "go along with the others". (See paragraph 4 of Affidavit of Frank J. Falk, 8<sup>th</sup> affidavit included in Exhibit "8", Exhibit "5", attached at pp. 17-19; see also Exhibit "9", attached).

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The jury intended to award Mrs. Haase \$820,000 for the hospital's negligence. Jurors made that intent clear in the affidavits they signed on the day following trial and in their declarations in open court when they were re-impaneled some six weeks later. Under Utah law, the jury's intent is to be carried into effect.

If the trial court genuinely believed the jury did not intend to award Mrs. Haase the full \$820,000 for the hospital's negligence, its belief was clearly erroneous and against the clear weight of evidence. If the trial court did not so believe, it erred as a matter of law in substituting its own judgment for the jury's.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I**

#### **UNDER CONTROLLING UTAH CASE LAW, THE JURY'S TRUE INTENT GOVERNS AS TO THE DAMAGES MRS. HAASE IS TO RECEIVE FOR THE HOSPITAL'S NEGLIGENCE.**

It is well-established law that a court should enter judgment based on the actual intent of a jury in rendering its verdict. See 75B Am.Jur.2d, Trial §1789. If the verdict form completed by the jury does not accurately "reflect the jury's intent, the trial court may amend or modify the verdict to conform to the jury's intent and enter

judgment accordingly". Moulton v. Staats, 27 P.2d 455, 459 (Utah 1933). See also, e.g., Eastridge Development Co. v. Halpert Associates, 853 F.2d 722, 783 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1988); Fried v. McGrath, 135 F.2d 833, 834 (D.C. Cir. 1943); Newport Fisherman's Supply Co., Inc. v. Derecktor, 569 A.2d 1051, 1053 (R.I. 1990); Drop Anchor Realty Trust v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co., 496 A.2d 339, 346 (N.H. 1985); Umphrey v. Sprinkel, 682 P.2d 1247, 1255 (Idaho 1983). Entry of a judgment based on a verdict which does not accurately reflect the jury's intent undermines the public's confidence in the judicial system and frustrates the interests of justice.

The affidavits seven of the eight jurors signed on the day following the announcement of their verdict clarifies the verdict and explains the jurors' true intent. That the affidavits should be considered and declared dispositive is strongly suggested in our Supreme Court's recent decision in Bishop v. GenTec:

We disagree with the trial judge's characterization of the substance of the motion and conclude. ..that the affidavits were admissible, and that the jury verdict should be amended to reflect the true intent of the jury.

\* \* \* \*

"[I]n this broad approach to correctibility under Rule 60(a), it matters little whether an error was made by the court clerk, the jury foreman, counsel, a party, or the judge himself, so long as it is clearly a formal error that should be corrected in the interest of having judgment, order, or other part of the record reflect what was done or intended." Stanger v. Sentinel Sec. Life Ins. Co., 669 P.2d

1201, 1206 (Utah 1983) (quoting Jean F. Rydstrom, Annotation, Construction of Rule 60(a) of Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Authorizing Correction of Clerical Mistakes in Judgements, Orders, or other Parts of Record, and Errors Therein, 13 A.L.R. Fed. 794 (1972)).

Prior to the adoption of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, we addressed the issue of whether a trial court could correct a jury verdict to reflect the true intent of the jury. In Moulton v. Staats, 27 P.2d 455 (Utah 1933), we allowed the trial court to correct a jury verdict to reflect the true intent of the jury. In Suniland Corp. v. Radcliffe, 576 P.2d 847 (Utah 1978), Justice Maughan argued that juror affidavits were admissible "to demonstrate what verdict was actually agreed upon." Id. at 850 (Maughan, J., dissenting) at 946 n.1. More recently, the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals has also determined that, under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a jury verdict may be corrected to reflect the true intent of the jury. See Eastridge Dev. Co. v. Halpert Assocs., Inc., 853 F.2d 772, 783 (10th Cir. 1998).

Bishop is not arguing in this case that the mistake was a judicial error made in rendering the judgment, but rather that the error was clerical and was made by the jury in "recording the judgment as rendered." We agree that accurately recording the intent of the jury in its calculation of the damage award constitutes correction of a clerical error, not a judicial error. "The distinction between judicial error and clerical error. . .depends on whether it was made in rendering the judgment or in recording the judgment as rendered." Richards v. Siddoway, 471 P.2d 143, 145 (Utah 1970) (quoting 46 Am.Jur. 2d Judgments § 202).

Accordingly, the juror affidavits should have been admitted. On remand the jury verdict should be corrected to reflect the true intent of the jury by increasing the general and special damages to \$1,000,000 and



\$1,067,000 respectively, and then deducting Bishop's percentage of fault as required by the LRA.

Bishop v. GenTec Inc., 48 P.3d 218, (UT 2002).

A trial court may and should consider evidence which clarifies the jury's true intent. Moulton, 27 P.2d at 459. See also, Eastridge Development Co., 853 F.2d at 783. As succinctly noted by our Supreme Court in Moulton:

The general rule, that statements of jurors will not be received to establish their own misconduct, or to impeach their verdict agreed on, does not prevent the reception of their evidence as to what really was the verdict agreed on, in order to prove that, through mistake or otherwise, it has not been correctly expressed, as the agreement reached by the jury, and not the written paper filed, is the verdict; and a showing that the writing is incorrect is not an impeachment of the verdict itself. Affidavits of jurors are admissible to show that the verdict, as received and entered of record, by reason of a mistake, does not embody the true finding of the jury.

27 P.2d at 459 (citations omitted).

Utah law on clarification of jury verdicts is consistent with the law of many other jurisdictions. That law is organized and summarized in two relevant ALR articles: Competency of Juror's Statement or Affidavit to Show That Verdict in Civil Case Was Not Correctly Recorded, 18 ALR 3d 1133; Propriety of Reassembling Jury to Amend, Correct, Clarify or Otherwise Change a Verdict After Discharge or Separation at Conclusion of Civil Case, 19 ALR 5<sup>th</sup> 622. These two articles

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