2002

# Lori Haase v. Ashley Valley Medical Center and Columbia Ashley Valley medical Center and John Doe Defendants 1 through 10: Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The authorities relied upon by the Utah Supreme Court in Bishop provide instructive evidence of the contours of this doctrine, supporting the proposition that where jurors were confused or misunderstood the law as to how to express their intent, the error is judicial and affidavits are not admissible. Of particular relevance is the Court's citation to Moisakis v. Allied Building Products Corporation, 697 NYS 2d 100, 105-06 (NY App. Div. 1999), a case holding that juror evidence may be used to correct clerical errors, "but **not to determine the extent of juror confusion regarding the verdict as rendered.**" Id. at n.5 (emphasis added).

Also instructive is Pache v. Boehm, 60 A.D.2d 867 (N.Y. App. 1978), another case from New York<sup>4</sup> involving confusion and misunderstanding in apportionment of fault. The Supreme Court, Appellate Division, held:

---

<sup>3</sup> The distinction between clerical and judicial error is critical in Haase's argument because her persistent and consistent theme is that the jurors were confused, misunderstood, and needed more clarity. Those are the defining characteristics of judicial error rather than clerical error.

<sup>4</sup> The use of cases from New York may have greater persuasive authority than usual given the reliance upon New York case law by this Court in reaching its decision in Bishop v. GenTec, Inc.

Where errors are made in reporting a verdict, the Trial Judge may, in his sole discretion and upon the unanimous affidavits or statements of jurors, correct the judgement in accordance with actual verdicts. However, **this exception to the general rule prohibiting impeachment of jury verdicts was not intended to encompass jury error in reaching a proper verdict. Where the record demonstrates substantial confusion in reaching a verdict the court may only direct a new trial to prevent a miscarriage of justice to individual litigants.**

60 A.D.2d at 868 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

A recent analysis from the Fifth Circuit provides additional perspective on the scope and availability of Rule 60(a): “It is only mindless and mechanistic mistakes, minor shifting of facts, and no new additional legal perambulations which are reachable through Rule 60(a).” United States v. Kellogg, 12 F.3d 497, 505 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994).

All legal authorities identified, including those relied upon by Haase, are clear that where jurisdictions allow the consideration of juror affidavits, it is only for the purpose of correcting a clerical error. The phrase “clerical error,” if not a term of art, is at least well enough defined in Utah case law to permit judicial review.

The Utah Supreme Court defined clerical mistake as “. . . a type of mistake or omission mechanical in nature which is apparent on the record and which does not involve a legal decision or judgment by an attorney.” Stanger v. Sentinel Security Life Insurance Company, 669 P.2d 1201, 1206 (Utah 1983). In Stanger, the jury based its award to the plaintiff upon a mistaken calculation of an amount withheld from sales commissions. Id. The Court found that the error was simply the use of an incorrect figure and did not

involve any judgment by the jury as to the legal effect or proper calculation of apportioned damages. Id.

In 1984, one year after the Stanger decision, the Utah Supreme Court again considered the nature of clerical error: “Rule 60(a) is not intended to correct errors of a substantial nature, particularly where the claim of error is unilateral. The fact that an intention was subsequently found to be mistaken would not cause the mistake to be “clerical.” Lindsay v. Atkin, 680 P.2d 401, 402 (Utah 1984).

At issue in Lindsay was a determination of the trial court that a defendant should be granted dismissal with prejudice, a dismissal which was subsequently challenged in an action for indemnification by another defendant. Id. The Court indicated that if the dismissal was an error, it was judicial rather than clerical because it was a mistake in rendering the judgment, not in recording it. Id. The Court noted: “Rule 60(a) is not intended to correct errors of a substantial nature, particularly where the claim of error is unilateral.” Id.

Other jurisdictions have been equally clear that juror confusion or misunderstanding regarding the judge’s instruction is not clerical error and is not susceptible to revision on the basis of juror affidavits. See, e.g., Kitt v. Yakima County, 596 P.2d 314, 317 (Wash. App. 1979). In Kitt, The Washington Court of Appeals found that juror affidavits are not competent to revise a verdict where a misunderstanding of instructions was inherent in the verdict. Id. Jury misunderstanding of trial court instructions in comparative negligence cases is grounds for a new trial, not for revision of the verdict. Id.

It is the general rule that where the jury had a clear intent at the time of their deliberations, but made a mistake in recording that intent, the verdict should reflect their true intent. Moulton v. Staats, 27 P.2d 455, 459 (Utah 1933). However, no case supports revision of a verdict where there is substantial evidence that the jury did not fully understand what it was doing. The rule allows correction of clerical errors in recording a clearly understood verdict, it does not provide a post-trial forum for the jury to listen to counsel<sup>5</sup> and reconsider issues about which there was confusion or misunderstanding.

The United States Supreme Court articulated this very point, recognizing the danger that if “verdicts solemnly made and publicly returned into court can be attacked and set aside on the testimony of those who took part in their publication . . . all verdicts could be, and many would be, followed by an inquiry in the hope of discovering something which might invalidate the finding.” McDonald v. Pless, 238 U.S. 264, 267 (1915).

In this case, the juror statements indicate that the jury was confused about the verdict it should render. The Haase brief is replete with references to, and in some cases explanations of, the various ways in which the Court contributed to the confusion and misunderstanding of the jurors, and Haase concedes that judicial error was a factor, yet she asks this Court to ignore all of that and conclude that this was a simple clerical error.

---

<sup>5</sup> After the trial, the jurors had unrestricted conversations with counsel for Haase, but before the Hospital’s counsel could meet with them to discuss the affidavits prepared by Haase, the Court entered an order prohibiting any further contact between counsel and the jury.

For example, Haase argues that the Court contributed to the jury's misunderstanding in its response to a mid-deliberation question from the jury regarding calculation of damages and apportionment of fault, asserting "although there was an occasion for the Court to allow counsel to help dispel any misunderstanding the jury may have had due to the absence of apportionment instructions, the Court did not contact counsel. Rather, it returned a terse note to the jury undertaking to answer its question." Appellant's Brief at p. 8.

Haase also complains that the Court, rather than adopting or modifying a Special Verdict Form submitted by counsel, revealed during its reading of instructions to the jury that it intended to use a form created (by the Court) during the noon break. Appellant's Brief at p. 6. Haase asserts "counsel were neither asked nor permitted to comment on the Court's Special Verdict Form prior to its being presented to the jury. They had no opportunity even to see it until shortly before it was read to the jury." Appellant's Brief at p. 6. She complains that, "despite counsel's effort," the Court did not resolve prior to trial the question of how her settlement with Dr. Hawkes would be handled with respect to the jury. Appellant's Brief at pp. 4, 5.

Although the impermissibility of waiting until appeal to complain of the Special Verdict Form is addressed below, the key point is that Haase asserts that the Court committed an error which added to confusion and uncertainty in the jury deliberations.

Haase notes that, in response to a question from the jury regarding the apportionment and calculation of damages, the jury was instructed by the Court to calculate

"the total value of all damages." Appellant's Brief at p. 18. The footnote offered here is yet another illustration of Haase's recognition that the jurors were not clear on what they were doing. Haase suggests that the Court assumed the jury would understand its instruction, but asserts "what may have seemed perfectly clear to the trial court may not have been clear to the jurors." Appellant's Brief at p. 18. However, Haase discusses an exchange between the Court and Juror Chad Watt (foreperson of the jury) at the beginning of the hearing, and in this exchange there is no lack of clarity in the Court's question or Mr. Watts' answer:

The Court: Okay. Let me ask you the question again, because its very carefully worded. Did your \$820,000 verdict include all of the plaintiff's injuries, those caused by Dr. Hawkes as well as those caused by Ashley Valley Medical Center?

Mr. Watt: It was mine.

The Court: It was the total \$820,000, was her total damages?

Mr. Watt: It is what I thought was the total damage.

Hearing Transcript at p. 7 (Exhibit 5, Haase Addendum).

Elsewhere in her brief, Haase complains again of the extent to which the Court created confusion and misunderstanding:

The trial court determined on its own to give the jury a Special Verdict Form asking it to compare fault. However, the Court did not give the jury any instructions on comparative negligence or apportionment of fault and did not tell the jury what it intended to do with the fault apportionment figures it was being asked to enter on its verdict form. The jury, therefore, was in the

dark as to whether or how its comparative fault figures would impact Mrs. Haase.

Appellant's Brief at p. 29.

The passage from Juror Toni Fagnan relied upon by Haase illustrates the confusion and lack of understanding among the jurors. Fagnan states, in part, "we sent a note out to the judge seeking an answer. He wrote back suggesting we refer to a particular jury instruction. Neither the judge's note nor the jury instruction answered our question." Appellant's Brief at p. 23. Elsewhere Haase asserts again that the Court created confusion with the Special Verdict Form it used, Appellant's Brief at p. 32, concedes that the jurors were seeking (and therefore lacked) clarity, Appellant's Brief at p. 33, and asserts "the jury was not adequately instructed on matters of comparative negligence and apportionment of fault . . . ." Appellant's Brief at p. 33. If the Court erred or created confusion in instructing the jury that Dr. Hawkes was negligent and that some percentage of fault could be apportioned to him, it was judicial error rather than clerical error.

It is instructive to contrast these facts with the facts in the Eastridge case cited by Haase. Appellant's Brief at p. 12. In Eastridge, the jury mistakenly deducted 20% from its verdict of \$260,000, having apportioned 80% of the fault to the defendant, and wrote \$208,000 on the special verdict form. Eastridge Development Co. v. Halpert Associates, 853 F.2d 772, 783 (10th Cir. 1988). The Eastridge court noted the mathematical symmetry, specifically that \$208,000 is 80% of the plaintiff's claimed damages of \$260,000. Id. The jury claim that they made a mistaken calculation in deducting 20%

from their true verdict was consistent with and supported by calculations which could easily be made from the face of the verdict form. This is an example of the kind of formal clerical error correctable on the basis of affidavits. This is factually very different from the case now before this Court. Here, neither the theories advanced by Haase nor the juror responses on May 2, 2002 explain how the jury arrived at the verdict it entered on the Special Verdict Form.

Unlike the facts in Eastridge, the argument made by Haase makes no sense mathematically. If the jury based its special damages award on the testimony of the plaintiff's damages experts, without any reduction, 30% of that amount would be \$372,570, not \$600,000 [ $1,241,900 \times .30 = 372,570$ ]. In the alternative, if the jury intended to award \$600,000 thinking that was 30% of the plaintiff's special damages, the jury would have to have assumed special damages to be \$2,000,000 [ $2,000,000 \times .30 = 600,000$ ], an amount almost twice that argued by the plaintiff's expert.

Neither of these scenarios makes any sense as a mere mistaken calculation, and as evidenced by the comments of juror Fagnan, the jury did not make any calculation that would result in a 30% award equaling \$820,000.

The Court: Did the thought ever occur to you that the damages to be 100 percent would have to be over two million?

Ms. Fagnan: For?

The Court: For the hospital to pay that amount.

Ms. Fagnan: Pardon me?

The Court: For the hospital to pay 820,000.

Ms. Fagnan: No, that didn't.

The Court: Did that ever occur to anybody?

Unidentified Woman Juror: Not until later.

Ms. Fagnan: No. For me, it was hard to try to think in that many zeroes, if you want to know the truth.

Transcript of Jury Hearing at p. 12 (Exhibit 5, Haase Addendum).

Haase concedes that "judicial or attorney error may have caused or contributed to the disparity between the Court's and the jury's understanding of the jury's damage award." Appellant's Brief at p. 31. She then argues that judicial error does not provide a basis for retrial. Id. The Hospital addresses below the legal question of a new trial as the proper remedy for judicial error; the relevant point here is that the fact that Haase concedes that there was judicial error, misunderstanding, and a lack of clarity in the jury deliberations.

Another important consideration is the appearance of the record. Utah law is clear that a clerical error must be "apparent on the record." 669 P.2d at 1206. This is a well-established rule of law. Indeed, one appellate court held that where a trial court finds it necessary to hear proof to determine whether an alleged mistake was clerical, that is itself a sufficient demonstration that the error is not apparent on the face of the record and therefore cannot be clerical. Tillman v. Tillman, 172 F.2d 270, 274 (D.C. Cir. 1948), *cert. den.*, 336 U.S. 954 (1948).

The record here reflects a jury verdict form which does not have blank spaces or obvious inadvertencies such as the misplacing of commas or decimal points. There is no mechanical or clerical error apparent on the Special Verdict Form or in the record. Therefore, consistent with the law of Utah and other jurisdictions, the error cannot be characterized as clerical and is not susceptible to modification based upon juror affidavits.

## II.

### **FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE SPECIAL VERDICT FORM OR THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE VERDICT AT TRIAL IS A WAIVER OF THE RIGHT TO RAISE THE ISSUE ON APPEAL.**

Appellant's objections to the format of the Special Verdict Form are precluded by her failure to raise these issues at trial. It is well established in Utah that the failure to raise objections to the form of a Special Verdict or the sufficiency of a verdict so recorded, before the jury is dismissed, constitutes a waiver of the right to raise those issues on appeal. Ute-Cal Land Dev. Corp. v. Sather, 605 P.2d 1240, 1247-1248 (Utah 1980).

In Ute-Cal Land Dev. Corp., the plaintiff appealed the responses the jury gave to questions on the special verdict, and the defendant responded that the plaintiff "waived any objection to the jury's determination by not objecting to the answers when they were originally returned." Id. The Court's analysis reiterated the holding of an earlier case addressing the same question: "It is well established by numerous authorities that when a verdict is not in the proper form and the jury is not required to clarify it, any error in said verdict is waived by the party relying thereon who at the time of its rendition failed

to make any request that its informality or uncertainty be corrected.” Id. (quoting Cohn v. J.C. Penny, Inc., 537 P.2d 306, 311 (Utah 1975)).

The Court compared the facts to those of another case in which the failure to object to a jury verdict at the time it was announced precluded appeal, quoting its earlier analysis in that case:

If counsel be permitted to remain mute when a verdict is insufficient or informal, he gains an unfair strategic advantage and since there must be reasonable rules to control the termination of litigation if counsel has an opportunity to correct the error at the time of its occurrence and he fails to do so, any objection based thereupon is waived.

Id. (quoting Langton v. International Transport, Inc., 491 P.2d 1211, 1214 (Utah 1971)).

In this case, the plaintiff made no objection to the special verdict form, neither when read to the jury nor several hours later when returned by the jury. She made no objection to the sufficiency of the verdict. Under the rule of law in Utah, the failure to object to the form or the sufficiency of the verdict prior to discharge of the jury constitutes a waiver of the right to raise the issue on appeal.

### III.

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